
From: Clerk of Board
To: Mary Dona Paras
Subject: FW: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID 153992)
Date: Wednesday, September 3, 2025 3:14:21 PM
Attachments: Redline-Case No. 6264-2 Canyon Power Plant Proposed Findings and Decision and Order_editsmb.docx

From: Mohan Balagopalan < > 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 6:16 PM
To: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Cc: Mary Dona Paras <mparas@aqmd.gov>
Subject: Re: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

Yes, to Consent Hearing.

Mohan Balagopalan 

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 5:26:12 PM
To: Mohan Balagopalan < >; Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Cc: Mary Dona Paras <mparas@aqmd.gov>
Subject: RE: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

Hello Mohan, the District has no objection to these changes.

Please let us know if we can proceed with putting this on Consent calendar.  Thank you.

From: Mohan Balagopalan < > 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 5:18 PM
To: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: Re: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

Hi, 
I made some minor edits to clarify the applicable Rules for which the variance will be
granted. If this is acceptable, please let me know.  Thanks. 

1. Petitioner is hereby granted a Regular Variance for Devices D1 (gas

mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:mparas@aqmd.gov
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:mparas@aqmd.gov
https://aka.ms/o0ukef
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:mparas@aqmd.gov
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov

Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP

50 California Street, Suite 1700
San Francisco, California 94111
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BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD OF THE

SOUTH COAST AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
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FINDINGS AND DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD

The Petition for a Regular Variance filed on August 1, 2025, and amended on August 28, 2025, by Canyon Power Plant (City of Anaheim) was heard on the Consent Calendar on September 4, 2025, pursuant to notice in accordance with the provisions of California Health and Safety Code Section 40826. The following members of the Hearing Board were present: Micah Ali, Chair; Robert Pearman, Vice Chair; Jerry Abraham, MD, MPH, CMQ; Mohan Balagopalan; and Cynthia Verdugo-Peralta. 

Petitioner, Canyon Power Plant (City of Anaheim), did not appear. Respondent, Executive Officer of the South Coast Air Quality Management (South Coast AQMD), did not appear. The public was given the opportunity to testify. The joint Stipulation to Place Matter on Consent Calendar, the Declaration of Ron Hoffard, the Declaration of Elden Krause, and the [Proposed] Findings and Decision and Order of the Hearing Board were received as evidence, and the case was submitted. 

The Hearing Board finds and decides as follows:



NATURE OF BUSINESS AND LOCATION OF FACILITY

Canyon Power Plant (“Facility”) is an operational 200-megawatt, natural-gas-fired, simple-cycle power plant. Canyon Power Plant supplies electric power to the City of Anaheim’s Public Utilities Department, which serves electric utilities customers in the City of Anaheim. The Facility has four (4) LM6000 gas turbines that drive four (4) 50-megawatt generators. The Facility is located at 3071 E. Mira Loma Avenue, Anaheim, California.



EQUIPMENT THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THE 

REGULAR VARIANCE PETITION

The equipment that is the subject of the Petition is Gas Turbine No. 1, which is one of the four LM6000 gas turbines at the Facility. Gas Turbine No. 1 includes the turbine (D1) and CO oxidation catalyst (C3).



SUMMARY

Pursuant to Permit Condition D29.3, Gas Turbine No. 1 was scheduled for Triennial Testing in August 2024. Testing could not be performed because, on June 21, 2024, one of the blades from Gas Turbine No. 1 broke off from the rotor shaft, causing internal damage to the components in the turbine. As a result, the turbine ceased operations on June 21, 2024, and has not been in operation since. 

[bookmark: _Hlk207281959]In July 2024, in response to the damage caused by the liberated blade, Petitioner began the procurement and contracting process for the repair of Gas Turbine No. 1. The contracting process was prolonged due to the intervening holidays, unpredictable tariffs, import/export regulations and costs applicable to a Canadian repair contractor, and supply chain disruptions impacting the initial repair scope. The contract was executed with a contractor for repair at the contractor’s repair depot in Alberta, Canada. 

Because Petitioner could not complete the Triennial Testing in August 2024 as planned while the turbine was inoperable and would be offsite for repair, Petitioner filed a Petition for Regular Variance in August 2024 to avoid a violation of Permit Condition D29.3. On October 3, 2024, the Hearing Board voted unanimously to grant Petitioner’s request for a Regular Variance. (“2024 Variance”) The Hearing Board granted the 2024 Variance a final compliance date of August 31, 2025.

The Hearing Board’s Minute Order required Petitioner to file, by July 15, 2025, a modification and extension of the 2024 Variance if Petitioner will be unable to comply with the final compliance date. On or around July 11, 2025, and July  14, 2025, Petitioner learned it would not be able to comply with the 2024 Variance’s final compliance date because Petitioner was informed by the repair contractor that the repair would take several more months. Petitioner did not have sufficient time to file a modification and extension of the 2024 Variance by July 15, 2025, as directed by the Minute Order. 

On or around July 29, 2025, Petitioner confirmed with the Hearing Board Clerk that the soonest hearing date would be September 4, 2025. On August 1, 2025, Petitioner filed a new Petition for Regular Variance because Petitioner needed a compliance date extension and modification to remain in compliance with Facility Permit Condition D29.3, but the request would not be heard until September 4, 2025, after the 2024 Variance’s compliance date of August 31, 2025. The new Petition for Regular Variance requests an extension of the compliance period starting September 4, 2025, up to and including March 31, 2026, to allow time for the repair to be completed, the turbine to be returned, testing to be scheduled and completed, and required reporting to be submitted by Petitioner to Respondent. 



FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS

The following facts and conclusions support the Hearing Board making the findings in Health and Safety Code Section 42352 in support of a Regular Variance. The South Coast AQMD Executive Officer does not oppose the granting of the Regular Variance.

A. The Petitioner for a variance is, or will be, in violation of Section 41701 or of any rule regulation or order of the District.

Petitioner is in violation of District Rules 203(b), 2004(f)(1), and 3002(c)(1), which require compliance with permit conditions because, in the absence of a present and operating turbine, Petitioner is unable to meet Triennial Testing requirements of Facility Permit Condition D29.3. In addition, in the absence of the turbine, petitioner is in violation of Rule 218(b)(4)(C), which requires annual Relative Accuracy Test Audits (RATA). 

B. Non-compliance with District Rules is due to conditions beyond the Petitioner’s reasonable control.

Although Triennial Testing as required by Permit Condition D29.3 was scheduled for August 2024, Petitioner was, for reasons beyond Petitioner’s reasonable control, unable to conduct the testing as scheduled. Petitioner could not have reasonably anticipated and prevented the violation resulting from the blade that was defective and required replacement sooner than the manufacturer’s service bulletin indicated. In addition, Petitioner had no control over unpredictable tariffs and import/export regulatory challenges or concerns, or control over supply chain issues for materials that impacted the anticipated scope of repairs. 

C. Requiring compliance would result in either (1) an arbitrary or unreasonable taking of property, or (2) the practical closing and elimination of a lawful business.

Because compliance with testingTriennial Testing requirements cannot be accomplished without the physical and functional presence of Gas Turbine No. 1, denial of the Regular Variance would cause an unreasonable burden on Petitioner’s provision of critical electric utility service to the community in the City of Anaheim. It would cause significant, unreasonable, and unavoidable harm to Petitioner in that Petitioner will be subject to fines and penalties for violations of its Permit and the above-referenced Rules, despite having no excess emissions in the absence of Gas Turbine No. 1. 

D. The closing or taking would be without a corresponding benefit in reducing air contaminants.

Gas Turbine No. 1 will not be operational until the turbine is returned, tested, and has a successful start after the turbine’s inspection and repair is completed at the Petitioner’s repair contractor’s depot facility in Canada. In the absence of Gas Turbine No. 1, Petitioner will not be using any substitute turbine. Denying a Regular Variance would result in significant harm to Petitioner without a corresponding benefit in air contaminant reduction because the air contaminant reduction is already resulting from the non-operative status of Gas Turbine No. 1.

E. The applicant for the variance has given consideration to curtailing operations of the source in lieu of obtaining a variance.

Because the requested variance is for an administrative exception to Triennial Testing requirements mandated by Permit Condition D29.3 and annual RATA requirements in Rule 218(b)(4)(C), curtailment of operations at the Facility or of Gas Turbine No. 1 does not address compliance with testing requirements. In addition, operations for Gas Turbine No. 1 will be suspended during the variance period because the turbine will be transported, inspected, and repaired offsite at the repair contractor’s depot facility in Canada.

F. During the period the variance is in effect, the applicant will reduce excess emissions to the maximum extent feasible.

Because Petitioner is not substituting Gas Turbine No. 1 while Gas Turbine No. 1 is non-operative during inspection and repair, emissions from Gas Turbine No. 1 are already reduced to the maximum extent feasible. Petitioner’s operation of the remaining turbines at the Facility will be in compliance with the Facility Permit. 

G. During the period the variance is in effect, the applicant will monitor or otherwise quantify emission levels from the source, if requested to do so by the District, and report these emission levels to the District pursuant to a schedule established by the District.

Petitioner will monitor and report compliance pursuant to the Hearing Board’s Order and the Facility Permit. 



CONCLUSION AND ORDER

THEREFORE, the Hearing Board orders as follows:

1. [bookmark: _Hlk122594437]Petitioner is hereby granted a Regular Variance for Devices D1 (gas turbine) and C3 (CO oxidation catalyst), commencing September 4, 2025, and continuing through up to and including March 31, 2026 from SCAQMD’s Rule 203(b), 3002(c)(1), Rule 218 (b)(4)(C) and Facility Permit, ID #153992, Condition D29.3 The variance applies only to the portion of permit condition D29.3 stating the “test shall be conducted at least once every three years,” .for the period commencing September 4, 2025, up to and including March 31, 2026. All other requirements in this condition shall remain in effect. 

1. Petitioner shall notify the South Coast AQMD via email to AQ Engineer Chris Perri (cperri@aqmd.gov), AQ Inspector II Evan Landi (elandi@aqmd.gov), and Supervising AQ Inspector Joseph Liaw (jliaw1@aqmd.gov) of the following:

1. Completion of repairs to Turbine No. 1, within seven (7) calendar days of completion;  

1. The return of repaired Turbine No. 1 to Canyon Power, within (7) seven calendar days 

1. Date and time of initial start-up of the repaired Turbine No. 1, within seventy-two (72) hours of start-up; 

1. At least ten (10) calendar days prior to the source test, provide notification of the date and time of the source test.

1. Petitioner shall conduct the Triennial Testing in accordance with permit condition D29.3 within 90 days after first successful fire. Successful fire shall mean operation that demonstrates compliance with all permit conditions, including the NOx emission limit.

1. Petitioner shall notify South Coast AQMD by calling 1-800-CUT-SMOG and by sending an email to AQ Inspector II Evan Landi (elandi@aqmd.gov), Supervising AQ Inspector Joseph Liaw (jliaw1@aqmd.gov), and AQ Engineer Chris Perri (cperri@aqmd.gov) at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to starting the Triennial Source Test. 

1. Petitioner shall submit a complete source test report showing preliminary compliance with the Triennial Source Test to South Coast AQMD Source Testing (sourcetesting@aqmd.gov) and to AQ Inspector II Evan Landi (elandi@aqmd.gov), Supervising AQ Inspector Joseph Liaw (jliaw1@aqmd.gov), and AQ Engineer Chris Perri (cperri@aqmd.gov) within forty-five (45) calendar days after the test date.

1. Petitioner shall ensure that the NOx and CO CEMS serving Turbine No.1 is operational at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to restart of equipment of repaired Turbine No.1.

1. Petitioner shall perform a cylinder gas analysis on the NOx and CO monitor offline prior to restarting the repaired Turbine No.1.

1. Petitioner shall conduct a RATA and bias test for the NOx concentration monitor, stack gas flow rate system, and NOx mass emission rate measurement system within fourteen (14) operating days after initial startup of repaired Turbine No. 1. 

1. Petitioner shall submit a complete permit application to reflect modifications to Turbine No. 1 within thirty (30) days of issuance of this variance.

1. Petitioner shall pay all applicable fees to the Clerk of the Hearing Board, or the variance shall be invalidated pursuant to Rule 303(k), except for excess emissions fees, which shall be paid within fifteen (15) days of notification in writing that the fees are due, unless otherwise ordered by the Hearing Board.

1. Petitioner shall notify the Clerk of the Hearing Board at clerkofboard@aqmd.gov in writing when final compliance has been achieved.







	FOR THE BOARD:  							


	DATED:							
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CANYON POWER PLANT (Facility ID No. 153992)
[Proposed] Findings and Decision and Order Granting a Regular Variance



turbine) and C3 (CO oxidation catalyst), commencing September 4, 2025,

and continuing through up to and including March 31, 2026 from

SCAQMD’s Rule 203(b), 3002(c)(1), Rule 218 (b)(4)(C) and Facility Permit,

ID #153992, Condition D29.3. The variance applies only to the portion of

permit condition D29.3 stating the “test shall be conducted at least once

every three years” .

 
 
Mohan Balagopalan

From: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 4:18 PM
To: Mohan Balagopalan < >; Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: RE: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 
Good afternoon, Mohan.  Please see attached revised F&D for Case No. 6264-2. 
 
Thank you.
 
From: Mohan Balagopalan < > 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 12:01 PM
To: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: Re: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 
Hi,
I suggest adding to the following to a revised F&D document in the Conclusion and Order
section:
 
A. Petitioner is hereby granted a Regular Variance for Devices D1(gas turbine) and C3
(CO oxidation catalyst), commencing September 3, 2025, and continuing through xx,
2025, the final compliance date from the following rules and Permit Conditions (list the
applicable rules and conditions). 
 
Please send a revised document for approval. Thanks.
 
Mohan Balagopalan 

mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
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From: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 10:50 AM
To: Mohan Balagopalan < >
Cc: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: FW: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 
 
 
From: John Jones <JJones@aqmd.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 10:46 AM
To: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>; rhoffard@anaheim.net; cesarsantana@montrose-
env.com
Subject: RE: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 
Good morning,
 
Although Rules 218 and 218.1 are mentioned in the petition, the facility has until the second
quarter of next year (Q2 2026) to conduct the CO testing, which is beyond the time period of
the variance of March 31, 2026. The District didn’t want to make them conduct 2 RATA tests
(one at the end of the variance period and another by the end of Q2 2026).
 
We agree that Device C3 should be added to the order.
 
Thank you,
 
John L. Jones II
 
From: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 8:03 AM
To: rhoffard@anaheim.net; cesarsantana@montrose-env.com; John Jones <JJones@aqmd.gov>
Cc: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: FW: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 
Good morning. Board member Balagopalan has an inquiry below. Thank you.
 
From: Mohan Balagopalan < > 
Sent: Tuesday, September 2, 2025 7:00 AM
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
I have a question. 
The new Petition for the Regular Variance lists several other rules that the Petitioner is
seeking relief from, specifically, specific provisions of Rule 218 and Rule 218.1, in
addition to Permit Condition No. 29.3.  However, this is not reflected in the Proposed
Findings and Decision document. Instead, it seeks relief from only a portion of permit
condition D29.3, stating the “test shall be conducted at least once every three years".  If
the Petitioner is seeking relief from Rule 218 and Rule 218.1 should not these be
included in the F&D document in the Conclusion and Order? In addition, the Petition
also added Device C3 (CO Oxidation Catalyst) in addition to Device D1 (Gas Turbine).
Shouldn't these Devices also be added to the Order? 
Please advise. Thanks.
 
Mohan Balagopalan

From: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Sent: Thursday, August 28, 2025 5:29 PM
Cc: Clerk of Board <Front_PC@aqmd.gov>
Subject: FW: Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant (Facility ID
153992)

 

Good afternoon,

 

The parties are requesting to place Canyon Power Plant on Consent calendar.

 

Thank you,

 

Clerk of the Boards

South Coast Air Quality Management District

T: (909) 396-2500

F: (909) 396-3317

www.aqmd.gov

 

mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
mailto:Front_PC@aqmd.gov
http://www.aqmd.gov/


 

From: Cesar Santana <cesarsantana@montrose-env.com>
Sent: Thursday, August 28, 2025 4:41 PM
To: Clerk of Board <clerkofboard@aqmd.gov>
Cc: Ronald Hoffard <rhoffard@anaheim.net>; Bertha Hernandez <bhernandez@anaheim.net>;
Elden Krause <ekrause@anaheim.net>; Karl Lany <klany@montrose-env.com>; William Winchester
<bwinchester@montrose-env.com>; Teresa Chen <tchen@anaheim.net>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Additional Documents for Variance Petition 6264-2 for Canyon Power Plant
(Facility ID 153992)

 

Good afternoon,

 

Montrose Environmental Solutions (Montrose) is submitting the enclosed documents for the
variance petition 6264-2 on behalf of Canyon Power Plant (City of Anaheim):

 

Signed Stipulation to put Case 6264-2 on the Board’s Consent Calendar
Ron Hoffard’s Signed Declaration with Exhibits A, B, and C
Elden Krause’s Signed Declaration
Proposed Findings and Decision and Order

 

Physical copies of the documents will be delivered to South Coast AQMD offices tomorrow
morning, Friday 8/29.

 

Should you have any questions or concerns related to this petition, please contact me at (949) 988-
4279 or cesarsantana@montrose-env.com.

 

Thank you,

Cesar Santana (he/him)

mailto:cesarsantana@montrose-env.com
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